THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000046
Case No. 2011-CP-26-7403

RECEIVED

MAY 28 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Mark Green, as Personal Representative of the Estate of
Randall M. Green and Ann Green, Respondents,

v.

Wayne B. Bauerle, M.D. and Wayne B. Bauerle, M.D., P.C., Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Andrew F. Lindemann
LINDEMANN, DAVIS & HUGHES, P.A.
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202
Post Office Box 6923
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 881-8920

John B. McCutcheon, Jr.
Lisa A. Thomas
THOMPSON & HENRY, P.A.
1300 Second Avenue - Third Floor
Post Office Box 1740

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Circuit Court err in finding that Randall Green and Ann Green intended that the \$2 million settlement with Grand Strand Regional Medical Center be allocated equally between them where the only “evidence” cited by the Court are arguments of counsel and the Court erroneously rejected the competent, probative evidence that did not support that finding?

- II. Did the Circuit Court err in determining that the loss of consortium damages sustained by Ann Greer exceeded the jury’s verdict and that the Greens’ proposed allocation did not therefore result in a double recovery?

- III. Did the Circuit Court err in failing to treat the verdicts and settlement proceeds as marital or joint property, as previously argued by the Greens, and in failing to apply the setoff as dictated by Supreme Court precedent under similar circumstances?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a medical malpractice action. Randall M. Green and Ann Green were involved in a motor vehicle accident on April 17, 2004, when a vehicle crossed the center line and collided with the Greens' vehicle. Randall Green was seriously hurt and was transported to Grand Strand Regional Medical Center where he was initially treated in the Emergency Room for a fracture/dislocation of his right hip and a severe laceration of his right forearm.

During the course of Mr. Green's care in the ER, the Appellant Wayne B. Bauerle, M.D.,¹ the on-call orthopaedic surgeon, was summoned to the ER to treat the fracture/dislocation of his right hip. Dr. Bauerle learned the ER physician had already reduced the hip, but Dr. Bauerle requested a CT scan of the hip to ensure that the reduction was proper and to check for bone fragments that could require immediate surgery. At the time of the CT scan, Mr. Green was in the holding area for the operating room waiting to undergo surgery to repair the laceration of his right forearm. Following the CT scan, Mr. Green went into cardiac arrest and was successfully resuscitated. Mr. Green sustained damage to his spinal cord which resulted in the paralysis of his lower extremities.

¹ For ease of discussion, the Appellants Wayne B. Bauerle, M.D. and Wayne B. Bauerle, M.D., P.C. shall be referred to collectively as "Dr. Bauerle."

The Greens filed this medical malpractice action against Dr. Bauerle and his practice as well as Grand Strand Regional Medical Center, LLC ("Grand Strand") and Carolinas Medical Response, Inc. ("CMR"), which was the ambulance provider. The lawsuit included a claim for loss of consortium by Ann Green. Prior to trial, Grand Strand settled all claims with the Greens for \$2 million, and CMR settled for \$25,000.²

The medical malpractice action against Dr. Bauerle and his practice was tried before a jury during the week of September 9, 2013, with Circuit Judge Steven H. John presiding. The jury found for Randall Green in the amount of \$2.3 million on his medical negligence claim and for Ann Green in the amount of \$550,000 on her loss of consortium claim. Judgment in those amounts was initially entered on September 16, 2013.

At the close of the trial, Dr. Bauerle moved for a set-off of the amounts paid in settlement on behalf of other Defendants, including \$2 million from Grand Strand and \$25,000 from CMR. By Order filed October 17, 2013, Judge John granted in part and denied in part the Motion for Set-Off. Judge John allowed for a set-off of the settlements received from Grand Strand and CMR, but he denied the set-off for the amounts paid for the release of the at-fault driver and the UIM

² Randall Green also settled with the at-fault driver for \$100,000, and he received \$150,000 in settlement of his underinsured motorist (UIM) claim. Likewise, with respect to her loss of consortium claim, Mrs. Green received \$100,000 in settlement with the at-fault driver and an additional \$75,000 in settlement of her UIM claim.

insurer. Judge John directed the Clerk of Court to enter judgment in the amount of \$665,789.47 in favor of Randall M. Green and to enter judgment in the amount of \$159,480.53 in favor of the Ann Green.

The \$2.025 million in settlements was unallocated by the Greens and the settling Defendants. As a result, Judge John equitably allocated the settlements based upon the precise distribution made by the jury in finding the actual damages sustained by the Greens. Thus, as Judge John reasoned:

[T]he jury found for Mr. and Mrs. Green for a combined verdict of \$2.85 million against the Defendants. The jury awarded Mr. Green \$2.3 million of the total \$2.85 million verdict, or 80.70% of the total verdict. The jury awarded Mrs. Green \$550,000 or 19.30% of the total verdict. Using that very allocation, this Court rules that the \$2 million settlement with Grand Strand shall off set the verdict for Mr. Green in the amount of \$1,614,035.09 and the verdict for Mrs. Green in the amount of \$385,694.91. Likewise, the settlement between Plaintiffs and Carolinas Medical Response shall off set the verdict for Mr. Green in the amount of \$20,175.44 and the verdict for Mrs. Green in the amount of \$4,824.56.

(Order).

On October 11, 2013, Dr. Bauerle filed a Notice of Appeal with this Court. The Greens subsequently filed a Notice of Cross-Appeal.

On August 5, 2014, the insurer for Dr. Bauerle made an initial payment of \$415,789.47 in partial satisfaction of the judgment in favor of Randall M. Green. This sum was not in controversy given the issues raised on appeal by both the

Greens and Dr. Bauerle. The remaining judgment was in the amount of \$250,000.00 in favor of Randall M. Green and in the amount of \$159,480.53 in favor of the Ann Green. The Receipt and Partial Satisfaction of Judgment executed by the Greens was filed on August 8, 2014.

On December 10, 2014, a hearing was held on a Motion for Leave of Court to Deposit Funds into Court before Circuit Court Judge Larry Hyman. By Order filed December 11, 2014, Judge Hyman allowed for the sum of \$446,669.82 to be paid into the court pursuant to Rule 67, SCRCF, which included \$409,480.53 (which was the remainder of the judgment principal) plus \$37,189.29 in accrued post-judgment interest through December 10, 2014.

On February 3, 2016, this Court issued an unpublished opinion affirming the rulings of the trial court and denying the relief sought by both sides on appeal. Dr. Bauerle and the Greens filed petitions for rehearing, which were subsequently denied on March 24, 2016.

At that point, Dr. Bauerle conceded on the setoff issue with respect to the \$225,000 received by the Greens from the UIM insurer. As a result, the only amount of the monies paid into court that remained in controversy was the \$200,000 received in settlement from the at-fault driver, plus interest on that amount totaling \$218,164.13. The insurer for Dr. Bauerle then agreed to release \$228,505.69 of the amount paid into court because the UIM money was no longer

in controversy. Accordingly, on April 14, 2016, a Consent Order to Partially Release Funds Deposited with Clerk of Court was signed and filed by Circuit Court Judge Larry Hyman. That Consent Order was based on the Greens' motion "for an Order directing that the sum of \$228,505.69 be paid by the Clerk of Court to the Plaintiffs Randall Green and Ann Green." That Consent Order further provided that "the judgment in favor of the Plaintiff Randall Green is partially satisfied by the payment of \$163,622.01 and the judgment in favor of the Plaintiff Ann Green is partially satisfied by the payment of \$64,883.68." (Consent Order). On May 6, 2016, the Greens filed a Receipt and Partial Satisfaction of Judgment in the amount of \$228,505.69 consistent with the Consent Order.

On April 25, 2016, Dr. Bauerle filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari. On or about May 16, 2016, the Greens filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari after receiving an extension. On October 2, 2017, the Supreme Court granted both Petitions for Writ of Certiorari.

On May 29, 2019, the Supreme Court issued an unpublished opinion that affirmed in part, vacated in part, and remanded. The Supreme Court affirmed this Court and the Circuit Court on several issues. First, the Supreme Court rejected Dr. Bauerle's claim of a set-off for the \$200,000 paid to the Greens by the auto liability insurer on behalf of the at-fault driver whose accident set in motion Mr. Green's hospital treatment. Second, the Supreme Court upheld Dr. Bauerle's

entitlement to a set-off of the \$2 million from Grand Strand and \$25,000 from CMR (the latter of which was no longer contested). The Supreme Court writes: “we agree with the trial court and the court of appeals that a setoff of the amount paid by Grand Strand was warranted.” *Green v. Bauerle*, 2016 WL 2289678, *3 (S.C. 2019). However, the Supreme Court found issue with the manner by which the trial court allocated the \$2 million settlement (which was unallocated by the parties to the settlement) between Mr. Green and Mrs. Green. The Supreme Court found “the trial court's method of calculating the setoff was arbitrary” and for that reason the Court “vacate[s] that portion of the trial court's order and remand[s] to the trial court for further proceedings.” *Id.* On this point, the Supreme Court wrote as follows:

The law requires the total amount paid by Grand Strand to be set off from the verdicts; however, we conclude the trial court's determination of the specific amounts to be set off from the verdicts was arbitrary, as the determination was based solely upon the ratios both verdicts bore to the whole. The setoffs should be calculated based upon the entirety of relevant circumstances, not solely upon such a formula. While these ratios may well be relevant to the ultimate determination of a proper setoff, they are not necessarily the sole relevant circumstance. Therefore, we vacate the trial court's order on this particular point and remand this issue to the trial court and direct it to convene a hearing to consider all relevant circumstances. The trial court shall then issue an order setting forth the amounts to be set off from the two verdicts.

Id. The Supreme Court did not offer any explanation as to what the “entirety of relevant circumstances” may be.³

After remand,⁴ both sides submitted legal memoranda, and Judge John held a hearing as directed by the Supreme Court on August 28, 2019. Judge John issued an Order on October 22, 2019, in which he ruled that “each of the Plaintiff’s [sic] verdicts shall be reduced by \$1 million.” (Order, p. 9). Accordingly, he ruled that “[a]pplication of a \$1 million setoff will reduce Mrs. Green’s judgment to zero.” (Order, p. 8). Additionally, Judge John ruled that Mr. Green’s verdict was reduced by \$1 million from the Grand Strand settlement and \$20,175 from the CMR settlement. (Order, p. 9).

Dr. Bauerle subsequently filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Order, which was summarily denied by an Order filed December 11, 2019. (Order).

Dr. Bauerle thereafter filed a timely appeal to this Court. The Greens filed a motion seeking certification of this appeal to the Supreme Court pursuant to Rule 204(b), SCACR, but that motion was denied.

³ As mentioned, the Supreme Court also recognized that “the Greens did not continue their challenge to the trial court’s grant of setoff as to the unallocated settlement paid by CMR; therefore, this argument has been abandoned.” *Green*, 2016 WL 2289678 at *2. That allocation applied a setoff of \$20,175.44 to Mr. Green’s verdict and a setoff of \$4,824.56 to Mrs. Green’s verdict.

⁴ By Consent Order filed August 28, 2019, Mark Green, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Randall M. Green, was substituted as a Plaintiff for Randall Green who had died on June 22, 2019. (Consent Order).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In this case, the South Carolina Supreme Court recognized that a non-settling defendant's right to a setoff arises by operation of law under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-50 as well as by common law. *Green v. Bauerle*, 2016 WL 2289678, *3 (S.C. 2019). The Supreme Court explained that S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-50 "grants the [trial] court no discretion ... in applying a set-off." *Id.*, citing *Smith v. Widener*, 397 S.C. 468, 724 S.E.2d 188, 190 (Ct. App. 2012). The Supreme Court also ruled that "[i]n South Carolina, a non-settling defendant's right to setoff also exists under common law, and the jurisdiction of the court to set off one judgment against another is equitable in its nature, and should be exercised so as to do justice between parties." *Id.*

On appeal, this Court "reviews all questions of law de novo." *Fesmire v. Digh*, 385 S.C. 296, 683 S.E.2d 803, 807 (Ct. App. 2009). Thus, rulings as to the setoff arising by operation of law under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-50 are reviewed *de novo*. Likewise, in matters of equity, all factual findings and legal conclusions are reviewed *de novo*. *Regions Bank v. Wingard Properties, Inc.*, 394 S.C. 241, 715 S.E.2d 348, 352 (Ct. App. 2011). "[T]he appellate court may review the record and make findings of fact in accordance with its own view of a preponderance of the evidence." *Doe v. South Carolina Medical Malpractice Liability Joint Underwriting Assn.*, 347 S.C. 642, 557 S.E.2d 670, 672 (2001).

ARGUMENTS

- I. **The Circuit Court erred in finding that Randall Green and Ann Green intended that the \$2 million settlement with Grand Strand Regional Medical Center be allocated equally between them where the only “evidence” cited by the Court were arguments of counsel and the Court erroneously rejected the competent, probative evidence that did not support that finding.**

On remand, the Greens argued that the \$2 million settlement from Grand Strand should be allocated equally between them. They claim that an equal allocation is consistent with the terms of the settlement and the intent of the parties. However, the settlement was not allocated between the Greens by agreement. In other words, there is no language in the “Covenant Not to Sue and Covenant Not to Prosecute or Execute Judgment,” as executed by the Greens in favor of Grand Strand, that suggests that any allocation was contemplated or bargained for. Nonetheless, the Circuit Court found that the Greens intended an equal allocation because “[t]he Plaintiffs asserted before the Supreme Court as well as this Court that the lack of allocation reflects their intention to share equal entitlement to the funds.” (Order, p. 4). In so ruling, the Circuit Court disregarded the complete absence of admissible, competent evidence in the record showing that the intentions of the Greens were to share equally the \$2 million settlement.

The only “evidence” of the Greens’ intent to allocate the settlement equally is the arguments of counsel. Clearly, that was in error as the assertions or arguments

of counsel are not evidence. *See, McManis v. Bank of Greenwood*, 171 S.C. 84, 171 S.E.2d 473, 475 (1933) (“This court has repeatedly held that statements of fact appearing only in argument of counsel will not be considered”); *Bowers v. Bowers*, 304 S.C. 65, 403 S.E.2d 127, 129 (Ct. App. 1991) (“Arguments of counsel are ... not evidence”); *Gilmore v. Ivey*, 290 S.C. 53, 348 S.E.2d 180 (Ct. App. 1986).

Additionally, in obvious recognition that there was no evidence of any intent to allocate the settlement equally, the Greens attempted after remand to present an affidavit of Ann Green, to which Dr. Bauerle objected. In the email directing the Greens’ counsel to prepare a proposed order dated October 10, 2019, the Circuit Court stated as follows: “the proposed order cannot rely on the Affidavit of Ann Green. The Court will not consider the affidavit of Ann Green because counsel for the plaintiff never requested, nor received the Court’s permission to supplement the record. Moreover, no opportunity was given to opposing counsel to submit any rebuttal affidavit, nor could they cross-examine the affidavit as to the contents of the affidavit.” (October 10, 2019 Email). That ruling has not been appealed and is the law of the case.

Clearly, absent the Ann Green affidavit which was properly excluded, there is no *evidence* in the record that reflects the intent of the Greens to allocate the \$2 million settlement equally. Instead, the intentions of the Greens to that effect are shown only in the legal arguments of counsel, which are obviously not evidence.

Importantly, the record does include circumstantial (if not direct) evidence of the intentions of the Greens, but that evidence supports Dr. Bauerle's position. On April 14, 2016, which was after the Petitions for Rehearing were denied in the Court of Appeals, a Consent Order to Partially Release Funds Deposited with Clerk of Court was signed and filed by Circuit Court Judge Larry Hyman. That Consent Order was based on the Greens' motion "for an Order directing that the sum of \$228,505.69 be paid by the Clerk of Court to the Plaintiffs Randall Green and Ann Green." (Consent Order, p. 1). That Consent Order further provided that "the judgment in favor of the Plaintiff Randall Green is partially satisfied by the payment of \$163,622.01 and the judgment in favor of the Plaintiff Ann Green is partially satisfied by the payment of \$64,883.68." (Consent Order, p. 2).

Thus, Mrs. Green, with her husband's consent, accepted \$64,883.68, and they partially satisfied/released Dr. Bauerle in that amount on April 20, 2016. The acceptance of funds by Mrs. Green to partially satisfy the judgment entered in her favor is inconsistent with the Greens' current position that Mrs. Green's allocation was \$1 million (as intended by the parties to the Grand Strand settlement) and thus no payment of any amount was required to satisfy Mrs. Green's verdict of \$550,000. But, by accepting the \$64,883.68 and satisfying Mrs. Green's judgment in that amount, the Greens acknowledged that her judgment was not fully satisfied

by the Grand Strand settlement. That is clearly evidence demonstrating that the Greens never intended to allocate the \$2 million equally.

Specifically, the Circuit Court should have given substantial weight to the Greens' post-trial acceptance of funds to satisfy Mrs. Green's verdict. That evidence is not contrary to Rule 205, SCACR, as the Circuit Court suggests.⁵ Instead, it is substantial evidence showing that the Greens never intended for the \$2 million settlement with Grand Strand to be equally allocated.⁶

Yet, the Circuit Court discounts that evidence by concluding that the April 14, 2016 Consent Order is "harmless error" and "should be disregarded." There are several errors with that ruling.

That evidence is in the form of a consent order meaning it was entered with the consent of the Greens. A consent order is no different than a stipulation; the party is bound by the representations, legal and factual, contained in a consent

⁵ Rule 205, SCACR, provides: "Nothing in these Rules shall prohibit the lower court, commission or tribunal from proceeding with matters not affected by the appeal." Rule 205, SCACR. During the pendency of the appeal, the Circuit Court had jurisdiction to enter orders allowing for the partial satisfaction of the judgment and the disbursement of funds paid into the court pursuant to Rule 67. The Greens have not argued, nor did the Circuit Court find, that the orders entered during the pendency of appeal are null and void for lack of jurisdiction. The Greens accepted the funds paid for Dr. Bauerle in partial satisfaction of the judgment, and the position taken relative thereto is probative evidence of their intent.

⁶ The Circuit Court also erred in characterizing the April 2016 payment as "the disbursement of UIM proceeds." (Order, p. 8). The payment was not "UIM proceeds" and was not made by the UIM insurer. Instead, it was a payment made by Dr. Bauerle's insurer in partial satisfaction of *both* the medical malpractice verdict for Mr. Green and the loss of consortium verdict for Mrs. Green. Clearly, the Circuit Court did not recognize the import or purpose of the April 2016 payment or what it conveys in terms of relevant evidence of the Greens' intentions.

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