THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court Of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000046
Case No. 2011-CP-26-7403

RECEIVED
Dec 08 2020
SC Court of Appeals

Mark Green, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Randall M. Green
and Ann Green,.....

Respondents,

v.

Wayne B. Bauerle, M.D. and Wayne B. Bauerle, M.D., P.C.....

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

O.Grady Query
Query, Sautter, and Associates
147 Wappoo Creek Drive, Suite 202
Charleston, South Carolina 29412
(843)795-9500

Cristin Uricchio
Uricchio Law Firm
147 Wappoo Creek Drive, Suite 205
Charleston, South Carolina 29412
(843)795-9300

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

entry of the Consent Order, the equal allocation issue was extensively argued before the Supreme Court and was central to the analysis ordered on remand⁹; and (4) The Orders in place at the time of the acceptance of the undisputed UIM **funds and referenced in the Consent Order itself**, consistent with Rule 205, SCACR, and Rule 61, SCRCR, prohibited that transaction and agreement from affecting any matters pending appeal or the **“amount of the verdicts to which the Plaintiffs are ultimately entitled.”** (R. 8; 21-25; 26-27; 126; 144-145; Supp. R. 90-102).

Finally, prior to the trial court’s ruling, Bauerle did not argue *either* (1) that the Consent Order was entitled to preclusive effect in application of the setoff *or* (2) that disregarding a sentence to provide him full credit for his payment would “overrule” another circuit judge. (R. 8; 11-12; 136-137; 144-145). Not only are both of these post-ruling assertions incorrect under the facts and inconsistent with his prior position, but a party cannot use a Rule 59(e) to present an issue which could have been raised prior to judgment. C.A.H. v. L.H. 315 S.C. 389, 434 S.E.2d 268, 270 (1993); Hickman v. Hickman, 301 S.C. 455, 392 S.E.2d 481 (1990); Anderson Memorial Hospital, Inc. v. Hagen, 313 S.C. 497, 443 S.E.2d 399, 400 (Ct. App. 1994). These issues are not preserved, but will be addressed. (R. 11-12; 136-137; 144-145; 167-168).

Of note, the trial court found that it would disregard the language in the sentence on which Bauerle relies as “harmless error” only to the extent it prevented him from receiving full credit for the 2016 disbursement in applying the setoff pursuant to its prior findings. (R. 8). This was done with the consent of all parties in the interest of fairness *to* Bauerle. (R. 8; 137). **After** the trial court weighed the evidence as to the parties’ intentions and made this very ruling, Bauerle

⁹ Plaintiffs also brought to the trial court’s attention that Bauerle did not raise the 2016 Consent Order in his arguments in opposing certiorari on the equal allocation issue, raising it only after discovering the existence of such “additional arguments” much later in the briefing process. This serves as further evidence that the parties did not intend the UIM transaction to act as a settlement or resolution of the equal allocation issue at the time the Consent Order was entered. Defendants’ suggestion otherwise is disingenuous. The Supreme Court expressly denied the Defendants’ motion arguing that the Consent Order was relevant to the analysis and the trial court correctly made a consistent finding. (R. 8; 30; 139; 144-145; Supp. R. 126-154).

now asserts that the Consent Order was entitled to preclusive effect and that the *entire* Order has been impermissibly “overruled.”

. . . a consent order is an agreement of the parties, under the sanction of the Court, and is to be interpreted as an agreement. It can be rescinded by mutual consent in a subsequent court action. . . Thus, in a case like this one, where the final order in one case is the basis for the final order in a related case, this Court may, if justice requires it, relieve a party of the consent order in the related case if the other consent order has been vacated.

Johnson v. Johnson, 310 S.C. 44, 46, 425 SE 2d 46 (Ct. App.1992) (internal citations omitted).

Bauerle’s argument fails to recognize that a Consent Order constitutes an agreement between the parties. The language at issue did not represent another judge’s ruling on a disputed issue. Even so, circuit judges may set aside or modify the orders of another “when the right to do so has been reserved to the succeeding judge, or when it is allowed by rule of court or statute.” Nixon Grocery Co., v. Spann, 108 S.C. 329, 94 S.E. 531, 534 (1917). Further, consent orders may be modified by consent, where justice requires, or if the terms conflict with public policy. Johns v. Johns, 309 S.C. 199, 203, 420 SE 2d 856 (Ct. App. 1992) (finding in consent order not enforceable where conflicted with public policy and substantial justice).

Here, the trial court’s finding that the sentence setting forth specific numbers to be released under each verdict would be disregarded so as to effect substantial justice between the parties should be conclusive. It was not only suggested and consented to by both sides but was also required by the Consent Order’s own language, the analysis on remand, this State’s strong public policy favoring the settlement of disputes, and Rule 61, SCRPC. As was implicitly recognized by the Consent Order and prior Orders it referenced, the lower court did not have jurisdiction at that time to make a determination impacting an issue pending appeal. Rule 205, SCRPC. (R. 8; 144-145). Language directing a single joint payment also clearly contemplated that the sentence directing specific credits against each verdict could very well be nullified, vacated, or modified by the pending appeal. (R. 26; 126). The trial court’s ruling on this issue

was necessary to comply with the Supreme Court's Order and was consistent with its findings as to the parties' intentions.

II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE ALLOCATION OF \$ 1M TO ANN GREEN WAS REASONABLE UNDER THE FACTS, CONSISTENT WITH THE PARTIES' INTENTIONS UNDER THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT, AND SETOFF OF HER VERDICT IN THIS AMOUNT WOULD NOT LEAD TO A DOUBLE RECOVERY.

Bauerle argues that the trial court should have evaluated the reasonableness of the Grand Strand settlement based solely upon a comparison of the later jury verdicts. There is no precedent for such a proposition in our jurisprudence, especially not in cases relevant to the issue of setoff. This would also directly conflict with the Supreme Court's express instructions in this case as well as Riley, 414 S.C. 185, 777 S.E.2d 824. As in Riley, the trial-court approved allocation is supported by ample evidence and is unquestionably reasonable under the facts of this case. Therefore, Bauerle's attempt to have it invalidated on appeal "based on a 'percentages' analysis is "manifestly without merit." Id. at 197-198. He incorrectly asserts that the jury verdicts should be given "preclusive effect" in evaluating the pre-trial Grand Strand settlement, misconstruing that the trial judge's refusal to rely on the same exact formula derived from the jury verdicts is "based on the fallacy that the jury's determination of damages was wrong." (Appellants' Br., p. 15). However, the trial court made no such finding but merely set forth reasons why pre-trial settlement terms are not dictated by, and might not correlate with, subsequent jury verdicts against a different defendant in light of our strong public policy favoring the settlement of disputes. (R. 5; 6-7).

S.C. Code §15-38-50 doesn't authorize modification of "good faith" settlements and protects against a double recovery by mandating that subsequent verdicts be reduced "to the extent of any amount stipulated by the release or the covenant." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-50(1) (2005). Non-settling defendants who ask the court to invalidate settlement terms must prove an amount is so unreasonable as to demonstrate a fraudulent or bad faith intent to obtain an unfair

double recovery. *Id.* at 196-197 (quoting *Lard*, 901 N.E.2d 1006, 1018 ("Although the manipulation of an allocation can be evidence of bad faith in a settlement negotiation, it is not *per se* bad faith to engage in the advantageous apportioning of a settlement.")) Courts have only found that this threshold was met in very few cases where *no evidence* existed to support the dollar amount apportioned to an individual claim. *Rutland*, 400 S.C. 2019, 734 S.E.2d 142; *Welch*, 342 S.C. 279, 536 S.E.2d 408.

In contrast with the very few cases which have met the high threshold for appellate reapportionment of a trial-court approved settlement, there is **no** evidence here of bad faith or fraudulent intent to deprive Bauerle of a benefit to which he would have otherwise been entitled. Not only is it indisputable that Ann Green suffered damages and that an allocation of funds to the consortium claim was reasonable, there was also **ample** evidence to support damages in the amount of at least \$1M. Expert testimony labeled this as a "tragedy" for Ann. (R. 242). She lost her previous life as well as her husband as he was before. (R. 232). There is **overwhelming** evidence that she suffered, and would continue to suffer, horribly. Moreover, the Life Care Plan valued the 24-hour care that she was spending every day of her life providing at \$1.2 M, with future care more than doubling this amount. (R. 451; 463; 466; App. 11-12).

Notably, the Supreme Court remanded this case for consideration of the "relevant circumstances" in determining the proper amounts to be setoff from each verdict. The settlement agreement was **not** to be modified based upon any allegations of fraud or unreasonableness but simply for the technical necessity of applying a setoff. However, Bauerle argues that the Greens can't share equal entitlement to the settlement as intended because Randy's damages "far exceeded" Ann's. (Appellants' Br. p. 18). He cites no evidentiary basis for this other than a comparison of the relative sizes of the jury verdicts, which the Supreme Court's Order expressly prohibited. Moreover, it is not "within the province of a reviewing court" to evaluate the reasonableness of "the relative percentage of settlement proceeds assigned to each claim." *Riley*

at 191. The trial-court approved allocation is supported by ample evidence and is **unquestionably** reasonable under the facts of this case. Bauerle's attempt to have it invalidated on appeal "based on a 'percentages' analysis is manifestly without merit under these circumstances." Riley at 197-198.

By definition, the trial court's application of the setoff prevented a double recovery because each Plaintiff's verdict was reduced by the \$1 M settlement amount apportioned to their claim. See S.C. Ann. § 15-38-50. Incidentally, this afforded Randy a total recovery *equal to his \$2.3 M verdict*. (R. 6; 9). It also *eliminated all of Bauerle's liability to Ann* while still allowing her to retain her equal bargained-for right to the settlement proceeds. (R. 6). Nevertheless, Bauerle asserts that Ann has received a double recovery because her settlement was larger than her verdict. This grossly misapplies and perverts that very policy which permits a reduction of a *verdict* by the amount of a *settlement*. Bauerle argues that the maximum amount a Plaintiff may recover in a *settlement* is capped by a future unknown *verdict*, asserting that a "windfall" occurs where the Plaintiff has negotiated a settlement larger than the subsequent verdict. However, a settlement allocation has never been deemed to be unreasonable, fraudulent, or a sham on the basis that it exceeded a subsequent unknown jury verdict. As the trial court noted, the Greens' intentions cannot be judged based on future unknown factors outside of their control. (R. 3; 7). This is nonsensical, and there is simply no precedent for such a proposition under any theory of law or equity.

Bauerle's proposed reversal of the setoff rule profoundly conflicts with this State's strong public policy favoring the settlement of disputes. His position would actually condone retroactive judicial modification of good faith settlements based solely upon subsequent jury verdicts. It would penalize innocent parties for obtaining a verdict and do so on the basis of comparing that verdict's size to the verdict obtained by a different Plaintiff. Riley expressly forbids "appellate reapportionment" just to make it more advantageous to a nonsettling

defendant. Riley at 197. This would effectively obliterate one of the strongest motivating factors for parties considering settlement as it would no longer afford any protection against the unpredictability and uncertainty of litigation. Such a rule would have an absolutely stifling effect on settlements in this State. “Indeed, parties regularly reach compromise settlements for a variety of reasons, including the vagaries and unpredictability of litigation and the desire for finality.” Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries v. Outparcel Assocs., 374 S.C. 483, 497, 649 S.E.2d 494, 501 (Ct. App. 2007).

Application of the setoff rules must strike “the proper balance between preventing double-recovery and South Carolina’s ‘strong public policy favoring the settlement of disputes.’” Riley, at 196-197 (citing Chester v. S.C. Dep’t of Pub. Safety, 388 S.C. 343, 346, 698 S.E.2d 559, 560 (2010)). Here, the apportionment of the good faith settlement was amply supported by evidence on the record and thus, by definition, the setoff effectively prevented a double recovery. There is no basis for reversing the trial court at this juncture. “If the position of a nonsettling party is worsened by the terms of a settlement, this is a consequence of the refusal to settle. A defendant who fails to bargain is not rewarded with the privilege of fashioning and ultimately extracting a benefit from the decisions of those who do.” Riley, 414 S.C. at 197.

III. THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN DECLINING TO TREAT THE GREENS’ SEPARATE VERDICTS AS EITHER JOINT OR MARITAL PROPERTY AND IN DECLINING TO TREAT THE GRAND STRAND SETTLEMENT AS MARITAL PROPERTY.

Bauerle asks that this Court direct the trial court to combine Ann and Randy’s separate, independent verdicts and enter a single judgment in favor of both Ann and her husband’s Estate. This is clearly prohibited under South Carolina law and directly violates the Supreme Court’s directive that the trial court issue an order “setting forth the **amounts** to be set off from the **two verdicts**. (R. 36) (emphasis added). Though Ann and the Estate have consented to an equal division of the joint Grand Strand settlement, combining their separate, independent verdicts into

a single joint judgment would be a **gross** violation of their most basic rights and defeat the fundamental purpose of our current tort system. “Each Litigant was entitled to a verdict based on the law and the evidence.” Page v. Crisp, 303 S.C. 117, 119, 399 S.E.2d 161, 162 (Ct. App. 1990).

First, property is only deemed “marital” if it is “owned as of the date of filing or commencement of marital litigation.” Sexton v. Sexton, 298 S.C. 359 (1989). Further, S.C. Code Ann. § 20-7-420(2) grants the Family Courts exclusive jurisdiction for the settlement of all rights “to the real and personal property of the marriage.” Baurele’s assertion that the settlement and verdicts should be treated as marital property represents a failure to recognize that such a classification, even if permissible, would entirely derail the analysis from all existing arguments to entirely different factors relevant to the division of marital property while also divesting the trial court of jurisdiction. As Mr. Green has passed away, divorce litigation will obviously never be commenced, and neither the settlement nor verdicts can ever be deemed marital. Accordingly, it is unclear why Bauerle remains adamant that the Greens made this argument to the Supreme Court. The term “marital property” was mentioned a **single** time on page 21 of their brief, as explained in a footnote, to illustrate that an unequal allocation could affect a future family court division *if* they were to divorce. (Supp. R. 98). This side point was made to demonstrate further inequity in a potential far reaching consequence if the settlement was modified in a manner inconsistent with their intentions because this could also impact division of the funds in a potential divorce proceeding. (Supp. R. 98). The statement quoted on p. 20 of Bauerle’s Brief in further support of his assertion refers to the Greens’ argument that the pecuniary interest of a third party tortfeasor is not a legally tenable basis for a trial court to retroactively modify a contractual agreement between a husband and wife (though this obviously applies to unmarried parties as well) without their consent to divide “**joint** property,” not “**marital** property.” (Supp. R. 98). Any use of the term “marital” rather “joint” in classifying the proceeds earlier in the appellate process had been corrected by the time the case reached the Supreme Court, with case

law on “marital property” retaining relevance *only* to the extent of the point made in the above-referenced footnote. (R. 504, Ins. 17-18; 512, Ins. 20-21; 513, Ins. 14-24; Supp. R. 78-125). In any case, that side-point is moot now that Mr. Green has passed away and the interests of the Estate and its beneficiaries will never be subjected to divorce proceedings.

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